



## **Getting Started: Organization and Procedures for School Councils**

Georgia School Council Fact Sheet.....	<b>48</b>
Georgia School Council Law .....	<b>50</b>
Additional Legal References to School Councils.....	<b>55</b>
School Council Model Bylaws.....	<b>58</b>
Election Procedures .....	<b>63</b>
School Council Nomination Form .....	<b>64</b>
Parliamentary Procedure for School Councils.....	<b>65</b>
Open Meetings Act.....	<b>67</b>
Sample Council Meeting Agenda.....	<b>69</b>
Assessing the School Council's Effectiveness .....	<b>70</b>
Worksheet: Self-Assessment Questionnaire.....	<b>71</b>
Effective Meetings .....	<b>72</b>
Meeting Evaluation Form.....	<b>73</b>
School Council Compliance Checklist.....	<b>74</b>



## Georgia School Council Fact Sheet

### O.C.G.A. § 20-2-85 – 86

#### Why were School Councils Established?

Georgia's *A+ Education Reform Act of 2000* required that school councils be established at every public school by October 1, 2003. School councils are policy-level advisory bodies to the Principal, Superintendent, and local board of education. They may advise and make recommendations on any matter related to school improvement and student achievement. The purpose of school councils is to "bring communities and schools closer together in a spirit of cooperation to solve difficult education problems, improve academic achievement, provide support for teachers and administrators, and bring parents into the school-based decision-making process."

#### Who Serves on a School Council?

*At a minimum*, a School Council is composed of seven members:

- The Principal
- Two certificated teachers elected by the teachers
- Four parents (or guardians) elected by the parents; two of the parents must be businesspersons

The school council may, within its bylaws, increase the number of members as long as the parents remain the majority. Staff members, students, and members of school-related organizations such as the PTA/PTO may also be members and are selected according to the school council's bylaws. Other businesspersons from the community may serve on the council and shall be selected by the other members of the school council. Selection procedures for additional members should be specified in the bylaws.

#### What are the Roles and Responsibilities of Council Members?

**All members of the School Council must:**

- Maintain a school-wide perspective on issues,
- Regularly participate in council meetings,
- Participate in information and training programs,
- Act as a link between the school council and the community,
- Encourage the participation of parents and others within the school community, and
- Work to improve student achievement and performance.

**"The councils shall provide advice and recommendations to the school principal and, where appropriate, the local board of education and local school superintendent on any matter related to student achievement and school improvement, including, but not limited to, the following:"**

- School board policies;
- School improvement plans;
- Curriculum and assessments;
- Report cards issued or audits of the school conducted by the Office of Student Achievement;
- Development of a school profile which shall contain data as identified by the council to describe the academic performance, academic progress, services, awards, interventions, environment, and other such data as the council deems appropriate;
- School budget priorities, including school capital improvement plans;
- School-community communication strategies;
- Methods of involving parents and the community;



- Extracurricular activities in the school;
- School-based and community services;
- Community use of school facilities;
- Student discipline and attendance;
- Reports from the school principal regarding progress toward the school's student achievement goals, including progress within specific grade levels and subject areas and by school personnel; and
- The method and specifications for the delivery of early intervention services or other appropriate services for underachieving students.

### **How do School Councils Conduct Business?**

- All meetings are open to the public.
- School councils must meet four or more times a year as stated in their bylaws.
- A quorum, which is a majority of the members, must be present at the meeting.
- The council may appoint committees, study groups, and task forces.
- Meetings are subject to the Open Meetings Act.
- Records are subject to the Open Records Act.

### **What is the Role of the Local Board of Education with School Councils?**

#### **The local board of education shall:**

- Provide all information not specifically made confidential by law, including but not limited to, school site budget and expenditure information and class sizes by grade.
- Designate an employee of the school system to attend council meetings when requested.
- Receive and review the school council's annual report.
- The central administration shall respond to requests for information from a school council.

#### **The local board of education shall receive and consider all recommendations of the school council, including the annual report, as follows:**

- Public notice shall be given to the community of the local board's intent to consider school council reports or recommendations;
- Written notice shall be given to the members of the school council at least seven days prior to such local board meeting, along with a notice of intent to consider a school council report or recommendation;
- The members of the school council shall be afforded an opportunity to present information in support of the school council's report or recommendation; and
- The local board of education shall respond to each recommendation of the school council within 60 calendar days after being notified in writing of the recommendation.

### **Are School Council Members Required to Have Training?**

The law requires each local board of education to provide a training program to address the organization of school councils; their purpose and responsibilities; applicable laws, rules, regulations and meeting procedures; important state and local school system program requirements; and a model school council organization plan. The law also requires that additional training programs be offered to school council members annually to assist school council members in the performance of their duties. State Board rule 160-3-3-.04 allows professional learning funds to be used for school council training.



## Georgia School Council Law

### **O.C.G.A. § 20-2-85 – Legislative findings; role of local boards of education and school councils**

- (a) The General Assembly recognizes the need to improve communication and participation of parents and the community in the management and operation of local schools. The General Assembly believes that parent and community support is critical to the success of students and schools. The intent of this article is to bring communities and schools closer together in a spirit of cooperation to solve difficult education problems, improve academic achievement, provide support for teachers and administrators, and bring parents into the school-based decision-making process. The establishment of school councils is intended to help local boards of education develop and nurture participation, bring parents and the community together with teachers and school administrators to create a better understanding of and mutual respect for each other's concerns, and share ideas for school improvement. School councils shall be reflective of the school community.
- (b) The management and control of public schools shall be the responsibility of local boards of education, and the school leader shall be the principal. School councils shall provide advice, recommendations, and assistance and represent the community of parents and businesses. Each member of the council, as a community representative, shall be accorded the respect and attention deserving of such election.

### **O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 – Operation of school councils; training programs; membership; management; roles and responsibilities**

- (a) By October 1, 2001, each local board of education that elects to participate in the Quality Basic Education Program provided for in Article 6 of this chapter shall have a school council operational at a minimum of one high school, one middle school, and one elementary school, except that if a school system does not have its schools organized in this manner the system shall designate schools for a school council as closely to the intent of this Code section as possible. By October 1, 2002, each local board of education shall have a school council operational in a minimum of 50 percent of the schools under its jurisdiction. Such school council shall operate pursuant to this Code section, and the local board of education shall assist all councils in their creation and operation. After two years of successful operation, and upon receiving a high performance designation by the Office of Student Achievement, the local board of education shall devolve to the school council such additional authority in matters of school operation as the local board deems appropriate. By October 1, 2003, each local board of education shall have a school council operational in each of the schools under its jurisdiction. Local boards of education may by board policy allow an alternative to a school council at a charter school, an alternative school, or a psychoeducation center if another governance body or advisory council exists that performs a comparable function.
- (b) The local board of education shall provide a training program to assist schools in forming a school council and to assist school councilmembers in the performance of their duties. Such program shall address the organization of councils, their purpose and responsibilities, applicable laws, rules, regulations and meeting procedures, and important state and local school system program requirements and shall provide a model school council organization plan. Additional training programs shall be offered to school councilmembers annually. The State Board of Education shall develop and make available a model school council training program.
- (c) Any member may withdraw from the council by delivering to the council a written resignation and submitting a copy to the secretary of the council or school principal. Should school councilmembers determine that a member of the council is no longer active in the council as defined by the bylaws of



the council, the council may, by a majority vote, withdraw such person's membership status, effective as of a date determined by the council.

- (d) The property and business of the council shall be managed by a minimum of seven school councilmembers of whom a majority shall constitute a quorum. The number of councilmembers shall be specified in the council's bylaws. Members of the school council shall include:
- (1) A number of parents or guardians of students enrolled in the school, excluding employees who are parents or guardians of such students, so that such parents or guardians make up a majority of the council and at least two of whom shall be businesspersons;
  - (2) At least two certificated teachers, excluding any personnel employed in administrative positions, who are employed at least four of the six school segments at the school;
  - (3) The school principal; and
  - (4) Other members as specified in the council's bylaws, such as, but not limited to, students, staff, and representatives of school related organizations. Other businesspersons from the local business community may serve on the council and shall be selected by the other members of the school council. Selection procedures for these members and the business members shall be specified in the council's bylaws.

An employee of the local school system may serve as a parent representative on the council of a school in which his or her child is enrolled if such employee works at a different school. With the exception of the principal and the business representatives, members shall be elected by, and from among, the group they represent.

- (e) Members of the council shall serve for a term of two years or for such other term as may be specified in the council's bylaws, except as provided in this subsection. The terms of the councilmembers shall be staggered. Upon the expiration of the terms of the two businessperson councilmembers in office on July 1, 2007, these member positions shall subsequently be filled by parent councilmembers; provided, however, that additional businesspersons may serve on the council if provided for in the council's bylaws in accordance with paragraph (4) of subsection (d) of this Code section. Councilmembers may serve more than one term. The office of school councilmember shall be automatically vacated:
- (1) If a member shall resign;
  - (2) If the person holding the office is removed as a member by an action of the council pursuant to this Code section; or
  - (3) If a member no longer meets the qualifications specified in this Code section.

An election within the electing body for a replacement to fill the remainder of an unexpired term shall be held within 30 days, unless there are 90 days or less remaining in the term in which case the vacancy shall remain unfilled.

- (f) All meetings of the school council shall be open to the public. The council shall meet at least four times annually and the number of meetings shall be specified in the council's bylaws. The council shall also meet at the call of the chairperson, or at the request of a majority of the members of the council. Notice by mail shall be sent to school councilmembers at least seven days prior to a meeting of the council and shall include the date, time, and location of the meeting. School councils shall be subject to Chapter 14 of Title 50, relating to open and public meetings, in the same manner as local boards of education. Each member is authorized to exercise one vote. A quorum must be present in order to conduct official council business. Members of the council shall not receive remuneration to serve on the council or its committees.



- (g) After providing public notice at least two weeks before the meeting of each electing body, the principal of each school shall call a meeting of electing bodies for the purpose of selecting members of the school council as required by this Code section. The electing body for the parent members shall consist of all parents and guardians eligible to serve as a parent member of the school council, and the electing body for the teacher members shall consist of all certificated personnel eligible to serve as a teacher member of the school council. The school council shall specify in its bylaws the month in which elections are to be held and shall specify a nomination and election process.
- (h) The school council shall adopt such bylaws as it deems appropriate to conduct the business of the council. The adoption of bylaws or changes thereto requires a two-thirds affirmative vote. The State Board of Education shall develop and make available model school council bylaws.
- (i) The school council shall have the same immunity as the local board of education in all matters directly related to the functions of the council.
- (j)
  - (1) The officers of the school council shall be a chairperson, vice chairperson, and secretary. Officers of the council shall be elected by the council at the first meeting of the council following the election of school councilmembers; provided, however, that the chairperson shall be a parent member. The officers of the council shall hold office for the term specified in the council's bylaws.
  - (2) The vice chairperson shall, in the absence or disability of the chairperson, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the chairperson and shall perform such other duties as shall be required by the council.
  - (3) The secretary shall attend all meetings, act as clerk of the council, and be responsible for recording all votes and minutes of all proceedings in the books to be kept for that purpose. The secretary shall give or cause to be given notice of all meetings of the council and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the council.
- (k) The members of the school council are accountable to the constituents they serve and shall:
  - (1) Maintain a school-wide perspective on issues;
  - (2) Regularly participate in council meetings;
  - (3) Participate in information and training programs;
  - (4) Act as a link between the school council and the community;
  - (5) Encourage the participation of parents and others within the school community; and
  - (6) Work to improve student achievement and performance.
- (l) The minutes of the council shall be made available to the public, for inspection at the school office, and shall be provided to the councilmembers, each of whom shall receive a copy of such minutes within 20 days following each council meeting. All school councils shall be subject to Article 4 of Chapter 18 of Title 50, relating to the inspection of public records, in the same manner as local boards of education.
- (m) At all meetings of the council every question shall be determined by a majority vote of members present, representing a quorum.
- (n) The term of office of all councilmembers shall begin and end on the dates specified in the council's bylaws.
- (o) The council may appoint committees, study groups, or task forces for such purposes as it deems helpful and may utilize existing or new school advisory groups.



- (p) The local board of education shall provide all information not specifically made confidential by law, including school site budget and expenditure information and site average class sizes by grade, to the council as requested or as required by state law or state board rule. The local board shall also designate an employee of the school system to attend council meetings as requested by a school council for the purpose of responding to questions the council may have concerning information provided to it by the local board or actions taken by the local board. The central administration shall be responsive to requests for information from a school council.
- (q) The local board of education shall receive and consider all recommendations of the school council, including the annual report, as follows:
- (1) Public notice shall be given to the community of the local board's intent to consider school council reports or recommendations;
  - (2) Written notice shall be given to the members of the school council at least seven days prior to a local board meeting, along with a notice of intent to consider a council report or recommendation; and
  - (3) The members of the school council shall be afforded an opportunity to present information in support of the school council's report or recommendation. The local board of education shall respond to recommendations of the school council within 60 days after being notified in writing of the recommendation.
- (r) The school principal shall have the following duties pertaining to school council activities:
- (1) Cause to be created a school council pursuant to this Code section by convening the appropriate bodies to select school councilmembers; setting the initial agenda, meeting time, and location; and notifying all school councilmembers of the same;
  - (2) Perform all of the duties required by law and the bylaws of the council;
  - (3) Communicate all council requests for information and assistance to the local school superintendent and inform the council of responses or actions of the local school superintendent;
  - (4) Develop the school improvement plan and school operation plan and submit the plans to the school council for its review, comments, recommendations, and approval; and
  - (5) Aid in the development of the agenda for each meeting of the council after taking into consideration suggestions of councilmembers and the urgency of school matters. An item may be added to the agenda at the request of three or more councilmembers.
- (s) School councils are advisory bodies. The councils shall provide advice and recommendations to the school principal and, where appropriate, the local board of education and local school superintendent on any matter related to student achievement and school improvement, including, but not limited to, the following:
- (1) School board policies;
  - (2) School improvement plans;
  - (3) Curriculum and assessments;
  - (4) Report cards issued or audits of the school conducted by the Office of Student Achievement;
  - (5) Development of a school profile which shall contain data as identified by the council to describe the academic performance, academic progress, services, awards, interventions, environment, and other such data as the council deems appropriate;
  - (6) School budget priorities, including school capital improvement plans;
  - (7) School-community communication strategies;
  - (8) Methods of involving parents and the community;
  - (9) Extracurricular activities in the school;
  - (10) School-based and community services;
  - (11) Community use of school facilities;
  - (12) Student discipline and attendance;
  - (13) Reports from the school principal regarding progress toward the school's student achievement goals, including progress within specific grade levels and subject areas and by school personnel; and



(14) The method and specifications for the delivery of early intervention services or other appropriate services for underachieving students.

(t) The role of the school council in the principal selection process shall be determined in policy written by the local board of education.



Georgia School Council Institute  
GeorgiaEducation.org



## Additional Legal References to School Councils

### **O.C.G.A. § 20-2-167:**

(e) No later than October 1, 2005, the State Board of Education shall develop rules and regulations requiring that each local board of education provide information as specified by the state board and which is not specifically made confidential by law, including school site budget and expenditure information and site average class size by grade, to members of the **school council** and the general public.

### **State Board of Education Rule 160-5-2-.21:** Annual Financial and Budget Reports

1.(f) Each local unit of administration's and each school's average class size by grade, financial and budget data shall be reported to members of the **school council** and general public through the Office of Student Achievement's report card.

### **O.C.G.A. § 20-2-182:**

(i) (2) Beginning with the 2007-2008 school year, each local board of education shall be allowed to exceed maximum class sizes set by the state board pursuant to this paragraph for general education programs in mathematics, science, social studies, and language arts for grades 9 through 12 and may establish such maximum class sizes that shall not exceed the funding class size by more than 39 percent and shall annually report to the state board and to each **school council** in its school system such class sizes established. (*See also State Board of Education Rule 160-5-1-.08*)

### **O.C.G.A. § 20-2-271:**

(b) By July 1, 2002, each regional educational service agency shall introduce and provide core services for member local school systems and schools and provide core services for purchase by local school systems and schools which are not members of that regional educational service agency. These core services shall include the following:

- (1) Training and assistance in teaching each subject area assessed under Code Section 20-2-281;
- (2) Assistance specifically designed for any school that is rated academically failing under Code Section 20-14-33;
- (3) Training and assistance to teachers, administrators, members of local boards of education, and members of local **school councils** on school-based decision making and control; and
- (4) Assistance in complying with applicable state laws and rules of the State Board of Education and the Educational Coordinating Council.

Nothing in this Code section shall be construed to limit the freedom of a school system or school to purchase or refuse to purchase any core service from any regional educational service agency in this state.

### **O.C.G.A. § 20-2-290:**



(2) The board of education of any local school system shall be authorized to employ school administrative managers in lieu of or in addition to assistant principals. Such school administrative managers shall not be required to be certificated by the Professional Standards Commission but shall have such qualifications as determined by the local board with a minimum requirement of a bachelor's degree. The duties of school administrative managers shall be to oversee and manage the financial and business affairs of the school. The principal shall retain authority over the curriculum and instructional areas. The school administrative manager shall report directly to the principal. In the event that a local board considers hiring or utilizing school administrative managers pursuant to this subsection, it shall receive and give all due consideration to recommendations by the **school council** as to whether or not to utilize such position and as to selection of the manager. Existing employees of the local board shall be eligible to serve as school administrative managers if they meet other qualifications and requirements established by the local board for such position. For purposes of earning funds for such positions, school administrative managers shall be treated in all respects the same as assistant principals.

**O.C.G.A. § 20-14-35: (Office of Student Achievement)**

(c) In making an on-site school performance audit, the auditor shall obtain information from administrators, teachers, and parents of students enrolled in the local school system. The audit may not be closed until information is obtained from each of those sources. The office shall adopt rules regarding obtaining information from parents and using that information in the auditor's report and obtaining information from teachers in a manner that prevents a school or school system from screening the information.

(d) The auditors shall report to the local board of education, the local **school council**, and appropriate school administrators and shall report findings and recommendations concerning any necessary improvements or intervention strategies. School audit reports shall be provided to the council and the State Board of Education.

**O.C.G.A. § 20-14-36:**

The office shall recommend, and the State Board of Education shall adopt, written procedures for conducting on-site audits under this part. The office shall make the procedures available to the schools, school councils, local boards of education, and the public. Office staff shall be trained in audit procedures and shall follow such procedures in conducting the audit. (See also State Board of Education Rule 160-7-1-.01)

**O.C.G.A. § 20-14-41:**

(a) The State Board of Education shall by policies, rules, or regulations establish a coherent and sustained system of assistance and support for schools not meeting identified levels of achievement or not showing specified levels of progress as determined by the office. The State Board of Education shall by policies, rules, or regulations specify appropriate levels of assistance and intervention for schools that receive an unacceptable rating on student performance for the absolute student achievement standard or on progress on improved student achievement. In specifying levels of assistance and intervention, the State Board of Education shall consider the number of years a school has received an unacceptable rating and may include one or more of the following interventions:

- (1) Issuing public notice of the deficiency to the local board of education;



(2) Ordering a hearing to be conducted at the school by the local board of education with the participation of the **school council** for the purpose of notifying the public of the unacceptable performance, the improvements in performance expected by the office, and the interventions that may be imposed under this Code section if the performance does not improve within a designated period of time and of soliciting public comment on the initial steps being taken to improve performance;

(3) Ordering the preparation of an intensive student achievement improvement plan that addresses each academic excellence indicator for which the school's performance is unacceptable, the submission of the plan to the State Board of Education for approval, and implementation of the plan;

(4) Appointing a Department of Education school improvement team to:

(A) Conduct a comprehensive on-site evaluation of each low-performing school to determine the cause for the school's low performance and lack of progress that includes presentations by the chairperson of the local board of education, the school principal, a parent member of the local **school council**, and other school personnel;

#### **State Board Rule 160-3-3-.04**

(2) Plan for Professional Learning.

(a) Statement of Policy. The local board of education shall adopt a policy that requires the preparation and implementation of a system-level CSIP. This plan shall include comprehensive professional learning as a major component. Professional learning funds shall be used for activities that enhance the skills and knowledge of all school system personnel, school board members and **school council** members, which directly relate to improving student achievement. In addition, the policy shall require the appointment of a professional learning coordinator and the appointment of a professional learning advisory committee.

(c) Expenditures of Funds.

(6) QBE formula "staff and professional development" funds should not be used to pay stipends to school board members or to school council members who are not employees of the school system.

#### **State Board Rule 160-5-1-.03: Identification and Reporting of Schools**

(2) Definitions.

(a) School – a building or group of buildings that has

1. A full-time principal,
2. A media center or access to a media center on a contiguous site;
3. Housing for students who are reported for the purpose of earning FTE-based QBE or state education funds;
4. A facility code issued by the Department;
5. An adequate yearly progress (AYP) determination or is participating in data collection for a future AYP determination in compliance with the federal Elementary and Secondary Education Act as amended by the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) of 2001;
6. A **school council** pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86; and
7. A school report card or is participating in data collection for the development of a future report card pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 20-14-34;



## **(Enter School Name) School Council Bylaws**

### **Article I: Name**

A school council has been established in the **(Enter School Name)** School in the **(Enter School District)** on **(Enter Date)**. The name of this school council shall be the **(Enter School Name)** School Council, hereinafter referred to as the school council, organized under the authority of state law (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-85 – 20-2-86).

### **Article II: Purpose**

The establishment of school councils is intended to help local boards of education by bringing parents and the community together with teachers and school administrators to create a better understanding of and mutual respect for each other's concerns and share ideas for school improvement. School councils shall represent the community of parents and businesses.

The members of the school council are accountable to the constituents they serve and shall:

1. Maintain a school-wide perspective on issues;
2. Regularly participate in school council meetings;
3. Participate in information and training programs;
4. Act as a link between the school council and the community;
5. Encourage the participation of parents and others within the school community; and
6. Work to improve student achievement and performance.

### **Article III: School Council Authority**

The school council shall advise and make recommendations to the principal, local board of education and local school superintendent on matters relating to school improvement and student achievement.

The school council shall participate in the selection of the school principal in accordance with the written policy of the local board of education.

The school council shall review and approve the school improvement plan.

The school council shall review school site budget and expenditure information, and class sizes by grade.

The school council has the authority to appoint committees, study groups, or task forces for such purposes as it deems helpful and may utilize existing or new school advisory groups.

The school council shall have the same immunity as the local board of education in all matters directly related to the functions of the school council.



## Article IV: Role of the School Council

The school council provides advice and recommendations to the school principal and, when appropriate, the local board of education and local school superintendent, on any matter related to student achievement and school improvement, including but not limited to, the following:

1. School board policies;
2. School improvement plans;
3. Curriculum and assessments;
4. Report cards issued or audits of the school conducted by the Office of Student Achievement;
5. Development of a school profile which shall contain data as identified by the school council to describe the academic performance, academic progress, services, awards, interventions, environment, and other such data as the school council deems appropriate;
6. School budget priorities, including school capital improvement plans;
7. School-community communication strategies;
8. Methods of involving parents and the community;
9. Extracurricular activities in the school;
10. School-based and community services;
11. Community use of school facilities;
12. Student discipline and attendance;
13. Reports from the principal regarding progress toward the school's student achievement goals, including progress within specific grade levels and subject areas and by school personnel; and
14. The method and specifications for the delivery of early intervention services or other appropriate services for underachieving students.

## Article V: Membership

Membership on the school council shall be open to principals, teachers, parents, business representatives and other such members as the school council may specify in its bylaws. Members of the school council shall not receive compensation to serve on a school council. Members of the school council shall include:

1. **(Specify at least 2)** parents or guardians of students enrolled in the school, excluding parents or guardians who are also employees of the school;
2. Two parents who are businesspersons;
3. **(Specify at least 2 but parents [#1 plus #2 above] must be the majority members)** certificated teachers who are employed at least four of the six school segments at the school, excluding any personnel employed in administrative positions;
4. The school principal; and
5. **(Specify additional members, such as, but not limited to, students, staff, representatives of school related organizations, representatives of community organizations, and representatives of business entities in the community.)**



### Article VI: Terms

Council members shall be elected for two **(or for Another Number)** year terms beginning in **(Specify Month)**. **(Specify how Staggered Terms will be implemented.)** Council members may serve more than one term.

### Article VII: Elections

Elections shall take place in **(Enter Month)**.

The electing body for the parent members shall consist of all parents and guardians eligible to serve as a parent member of the school council. **(Specify Nomination and Election process.)**

The electing body for the teacher members shall consist of all certificated personnel eligible to serve as a teacher member of the school council. **(Specify Nomination and Election process.)**

**(Specify electing body, nomination process, and election process of additional members. Additional businesspersons shall be selected from the other members of the school council.)**

Public notice shall be provided at least two weeks before the meeting of each electing body.

### Article VIII: Vacancies

The position of a school council member shall be automatically vacated if:

1. A member resigns by delivering a written resignation to the school council;
2. A member no longer meets the qualifications specified by law; or
3. A member is removed by an action of the school council.

The school council may by a majority vote determine a position vacant if it finds that a member of the council is no longer active in the council due to inactivity **(Define)** and **(Specify Reasons)**. The effective date of a vacancy shall be determined by the school council.

An election within the electing body for a replacement to fill the remainder of an unexpired term shall be held within 30 days, unless there are 90 calendar days or less remaining in the term in which case the vacancy shall remain unfilled.

### Article IX: Meetings

All meetings of the council shall be open to the public. The school council shall meet **(Enter Number, Must be at least 4)** times annually. The council shall also meet at the call of the chairperson, or at the request of a majority of the members of the school council.

Notice by mail shall be sent to school council members at least seven days prior to a meeting and shall include the date, time and location of the meeting. School councils shall be subject to the Open Meetings Act in the same manner as local boards of education.

A quorum must be present in order to conduct official school council business. A quorum is comprised of a majority of school council members. Every question shall be determined by a majority vote of



members present. Each member of the school council is authorized to exercise one vote. Proxy votes are not allowed. Members must be present in order to vote.

#### **Article X: Minutes**

School councils shall be subject to the Opens Records Act, relating to the inspection of public records, in the same manner as local boards of education. A summary of the subjects acted on and the members present at the meeting of the school council shall be made available to the public for inspection at the school office within two business days of the meeting. The minutes shall be provided to the school council members, each of whom shall receive a copy of such minutes, within 20 days following each school council meeting. The official minutes shall be open to public inspection once approved by the school council immediately following the next regular meeting of the school council.

Minutes at a minimum shall include the names of the school council members present at the meeting, a description of each motion or other proposal made, and a record of all votes. In the case of a roll-call vote, the name of each school council member voting for or against a proposal or abstaining shall be recorded. In all other votes, it shall be presumed that the action taken was approved by each person in attendance unless the minutes reflect the name of the persons voting against the proposal or abstaining.

#### **Article XI: Officers of the School Council**

The officers of the school council shall be a chairperson, vice chairperson, and secretary. Officers of the school council shall be elected at the first meeting of the school council following the election of school council members. The term of the officers of the school council shall be **(Specify Term)**.

The chairperson, which shall be a parent, shall develop the agenda for all meetings, preside at all meetings of the school council, and perform such duties as may be required by the school council.

The vice chairperson shall, in the absence of the chairperson, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the chairperson and shall perform such other duties as may be required by the school council.

The secretary shall act as the clerk of the school council, record all votes and minutes of all proceedings, give or cause to be given notice of all meetings of the school council, and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the council.

#### **Article XII: Duties of the Principal**

The school principal shall have the following duties pertaining to school councils:

1. Cause to be created a school council by convening the appropriate bodies to select school council members; setting the initial agenda, meeting time, and location; and notifying all school council members of the same;
2. Call meetings of the electing bodies after providing public notice at least two weeks before such meetings;
3. Communicate all school council requests for information and assistance to the local school superintendent and inform the school council of responses or actions of the local school superintendent;



4. Develop the school improvement plan and school operation plan and submit the plans to the school council for its review, comments, recommendations, and approval;
5. Provide progress reports regarding the school's student achievement goals; and
6. Perform all of the duties required by law and the bylaws of the council.

#### **Article XIII: Bylaws**

The school council shall adopt the bylaws as it deems appropriate to conduct the business of the school council. The adoption of bylaws or changes thereto requires two-thirds affirmative votes.

#### **Article XIV: Parliamentary Authority**

Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised shall be the governing parliamentary authority for school councils in all cases applicable but not inconsistent with these bylaws.



## Election Procedures

Election and nomination procedures should be specified in the school council bylaws. Following are some points to consider in this process.

1. Decide whether all candidates must be nominated or self-nominated in writing prior to the election, if nominations will also be accepted from the floor, or if nominations will only be accepted from the floor.
2. Create an election committee to plan the election process and gather the nominations. Should committee members and their immediate family members be prohibited from running for school council?
3. The election committee should:
  - a. Provide nomination forms if that procedure is used.
  - b. Make sure all candidates accept their nomination.
  - c. Work with Principal to provide public notice of teacher and parent elections. Date, location, and time must be made public at least two weeks before the elections.
  - d. Assist in conducting the election.
4. Should candidates be given an opportunity to summarize why they want to be on the school council?
5. If the number of candidates is less than or equal to the number of positions, does balloting process have to be followed or can vote be by acclamation?
6. Is there a minimum number of voters required to be at the election? If fewer than that are present, what is the process?
7. Will absentee ballots be allowed?
8. Must candidates be present at the election if they have accepted the nomination?
9. Must anyone nominated from the floor be present to accept the nomination?
10. Decide who will count the ballots and how results will be reported. Determine a process to follow if the results are challenged.



## SCHOOL COUNCIL NOMINATION FORM

\_\_\_\_\_ I wish to run for an elected position as a \_\_\_\_\_ (Parent or Teacher) representative on the school council.

\_\_\_\_\_ I wish to nominate \_\_\_\_\_ for an elected position as a \_\_\_\_\_ (Parent or Teacher) representative on the school council.

Name: \_\_\_\_\_

Home phone: \_\_\_\_\_ Business phone: \_\_\_\_\_

E-mail: \_\_\_\_\_

Briefly describe why this candidate should be on the school council.

\_\_\_\_\_  
Candidate's signature if this is a self-nomination

\_\_\_\_\_  
Date

\_\_\_\_\_  
Nominator's signature if nominating another person

\_\_\_\_\_  
Date



## PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE FOR SCHOOL COUNCILS

School councils are similar to other small boards because they work best when discussions are informal and not constrained by the need to adhere rigidly to formal procedures. Most school councils will work in a casual, unceremonious manner. However, several sections of the law refer to quorums and votes. When taking action on items on the agenda, the school council should have clearly outlined procedures for handling motions and taking votes. These procedures must conform to the requirements specified in law and should conform to standards that are incorporated into a parliamentary guide such as *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*. This summary will focus on legal requirements mandated for school councils and suggested parliamentary procedure that school councils may follow in taking official action during meetings.

### Meetings

A quorum must be present in order to conduct official business. Quorum means a majority of members. If the school council is composed of seven members, a quorum is four members.

1. *Majority* – More than half of the school council members present representing a quorum. Except as noted below, every motion is to be determined by a majority vote of members present, representing a quorum. For example, if the school council has eleven members and six are present, a quorum exists. If two members vote “yes” on a motion, two members vote “no,” and two members abstain, the motion fails. The majority of members present (more than half) did not vote “yes” for the motion. Abstentions often can have the same effect as a vote against the motion. The adoption of bylaws or changes in the bylaws requires two-thirds affirmative votes [O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (h)]. A majority vote of the school council is necessary to withdraw a school council member’s membership status due to inactivity as specified in the bylaws [O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (c)].
2. *Unanimous Consent* - Rather than voting on every issue, the chairperson can ask for “unanimous consent” on items that do not seem to be controversial. This can be done by saying, “Is there any objection to .....?” If there is no objection, the action can be taken.

### Motions

A motion is a proposal by a council member that the council take certain action.

#### Main Motion

Any council member, including the chairperson, may make a main motion to introduce a subject for action. A long motion should be written and given to the chairperson. The council member who makes the motion is not required to vote in favor of it.

#### Second a Motion

Any council member may second a motion except the individual who made the motion. A second merely implies that the motion should come before the school council for discussion. The school council member who seconded a motion is not required to vote in favor of it. If a motion does not receive a second, it fails and no vote is taken. Once a main motion has been seconded, the presiding officer *states the question* (reads the motion) and indicates that it is open to debate.



### Debating a Motion

Customarily, the person who makes the motion speaks first. School council members should confine their remarks to the pending question. The chairperson may participate in the debate. When the chairperson determines that debate is ending he/she can ask, "Is there any objection to calling the question?" If there is no objection, proceed to a vote on the motion. If there is objection, the chairperson should take a vote on whether or not to end debate.

### Subsidiary Motions

Subsidiary motions are used to address or dispose of the main motion. All of these subsidiary motions require a second.

- *Amend* – Used to change the wording of the main motion. Debatable; requires majority vote.
- *Refer* – Used to refer a motion to a committee for study or revisions. Debatable; requires majority vote.
- *Postpone* – Used to delay consideration of a motion until a stated future time. Debatable; requires majority vote.
- *Lay on the Table* – Used to delay consideration of a motion until the majority decides to "take it from the table." Not debatable; requires majority vote.
- *Move the Previous Question* – Used to end debate on a motion. Not debatable; requires 2/3 vote.
- *Postpone Indefinitely* – Used to drop the main motion and avoid a vote on it. Debatable; requires majority vote.

### Incidental Motions

Incidental motions are used to address concerns and questions related to procedure.

- *Point of Order* – Used by a member to call attention to a breach of the rules. The effect is to require the chair to make a ruling on the question. If the member is dissatisfied with the result, the ruling may be appealed. An appeal motion requires a second, is debatable, and requires a majority vote.
- *Parliamentary Inquiry* – Used to request the chair's opinion on parliamentary procedure.
- *Point of Information* – Used to inquire about facts related to the business at hand.

### Voting on the motion

When the debate appears to be closing, the chair can ask "Are you ready for the question?" If no one desires further debate, the chair *puts the question* to a vote after restating the motion. The voice vote or show of hands may be used. The chairperson may participate in the vote, and members may choose to abstain from voting. Proxy voting and secret ballots are not allowed. The chairperson states the results of the vote.

If the school council is voting to go into executive session, the secretary must record the names of those school council members voting to go into executive session and the motion stating the reason that the school council is going into executive session. A majority vote is required.

Voting to adopt or amend bylaws of the council requires an affirmative vote of two-thirds of the council members.

For more detailed information on parliamentary procedure, visit the website for *Robert's Rules of Order* at [www.robertsrules.com](http://www.robertsrules.com).



## OPEN MEETINGS ACT

- School Councils are subject to the Open Meetings Act [O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (f)].
- Meeting - gathering of a quorum of the members of the school council or any committee of its members created by the school council at which any public matter, official business, or policy is to be discussed or presented or at which official action is to be taken or recommendations on any public matter, official business, or policy are to be formulated, presented or discussed.
- As long as no official business is presented, discussed or voted upon, “meeting” does not include: physical property inspections; training or educational seminars; meetings with state or federal government officials or legislators; traveling to a meeting or gathering; social, ceremonial or religious events.
- All meetings are open unless otherwise provided by law.
- Regular meetings of the school council
  - Announcement of time, place & dates of regular meetings must be posted publicly at least one week in advance in a conspicuous place at the regular meeting place, and on the website, if any.
  - Members of the school council shall be sent notice of meeting at least seven days prior to a meeting [O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (f)], and
  - Regular meetings may be cancelled or postponed without notice.
- Announcing the meeting of the electing bodies of the school council [O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (g)]
  - Provide public notice at least two weeks before the meeting of each electing body.
- School Council agenda
  - Make available upon request the agenda of all matters expected to come before the school council prior to meeting,
  - Post agenda at the meeting site as far in advance as reasonably possible and, at a minimum, at some time during the two week period immediately prior to the meeting, and
  - Failure to include an item on the agenda which becomes necessary to address during the meeting does not prohibit the school council from considering and acting upon the item.
- Minutes & summary of meeting
  - Provide written summary of subjects acted upon and school council members present to the public for inspection within two business days of adjournment of the meeting,
  - Minutes shall be promptly recorded and open to public inspection once approved as official by the school council no later than immediately following the next regular meeting of the school council,
  - Minutes may be released prior to approval of the school council,
  - Minutes must include at a minimum names of school council members present, description of each motion or other proposal made, the identity of the persons making and seconding the motion or other proposal, record of all votes, and the name of the persons voting against the proposal or abstaining.



- If the vote is a roll-call vote, name of each person voting for or against the proposal shall be recorded,
  - Minutes of school council meetings shall be made available to the public at the school office [O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (l)], And
  - School Council members shall receive a copy of minutes within 20 days following each school council meeting [O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86(l)].
- Visual and/or sound recording of open meetings shall be permitted.
- Executive Session
- Closed meetings of the school council are permitted for specific reasons:
    - Hiring, compensation, disciplinary action, or evaluations of an employee;
    - Consulting with legal counsel;
    - Considering a matter involving disclosure of personally identifiable information from a student's educational records (FERPA); and
    - Discussing future acquisition of real estate.
  - Please consult your legal counsel for further guidance if you think a closed session is needed.
- Violations of Open Meetings Act
- Anyone knowingly and willfully conducting or participating in a meeting in violation of the open meetings act is guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, punished by a fine not to exceed \$1000.
  - Any action taken in violation of the open meetings act is not binding.

The complete Open Meeting Law can be found in O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1 through 50-14-6.



## SAMPLE AGENDA FOR A SCHOOL COUNCIL MEETING

### Willow Creek Middle School Council October 1, 2014

1. Call to Order
2. Pledge of Allegiance
3. Approval of Agenda
4. Approval of Minutes
5. Presentation to School Council  
Math Textbook Adoption Sara Jane Reilly
6. Report of the Principal  
Impact of changes to funding for FY2014-2015  
New School Safety Plan  
Ideas for mentor programs and opportunities with existing businesses
7. Old business  
Parent Participation Surveys- results
8. New Business  
Organizing parent survey results  
Additional math resources beyond textbooks
9. Adjournment

Willow Creek Middle School Council  
4950 Willow Place  
Pelham, Georgia  
912-856-2400, 912-856-2401  
[lcarey@willow.k12.ga.us](mailto:lcarey@willow.k12.ga.us)  
[www.willowmiddle.k12.ga.us](http://www.willowmiddle.k12.ga.us)

Leona Carey, Principal



## Assessing the School Council's Effectiveness

It is important for all organizations to periodically discuss and evaluate their activities and performance. School councils are no exception. A sample self-assessment questionnaire is provided. Research in Chicago and several Canadian provinces has provided some common characteristics of effective school councils which are as follows:

- They focus on student learning and the best interests of all students.
- They are actively involved in setting school priorities for improving student achievement.
- They promote meaningful parental and community involvement.
- They have a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities.
- They keep well informed about school and board policies and procedures.
- They have clear and consistent processes for decision-making.
- They communicate with the community about their activities and actively seek the views of the community.
- They establish priorities and goals and stick to them.

## Checklist of School Council Effectiveness

### ***ARE YOU ...***

#### **Participating in planning by providing advice on:**

- school's education plan (e.g. yearly goals)
- program priorities (e.g. curriculum emphasis, academic options)
- budget allocations (e.g. resources that support education plan)
- school policies
- training needs of parents and school council members
- school board policies

#### **Facilitating communication:**

- involving the school community in important decisions (e.g. through forums, newsletters, surveys, community bulletin boards, etc.)
- ensuring parents and teachers are working in partnership to enhance student learning (e.g. newsletters, grade level meetings, workshops, etc.)
- sharing information and networking with other school councils in your district

#### **Evaluating:**

- school's success in meeting its education plan (i.e. achievement targets — were they supported? met? realistic? etc.)
- the results of special projects (e.g. literacy program, homework program, etc.)
- school council



## Self-Assessment Questionnaire

Assess your school council's effectiveness. Complete honestly with constructive comments and return to Chair of school council.

Are council meetings effective?

Rarely     Sometimes     Mostly     Always

How could council meetings be improved?

Are we focused on student achievement?

Not at all     Somewhat     Mostly     Consistently

Have we prioritized and set goals for ourselves?

Yes     No     Not sure

Are you pleased with the school council's performance?

Very much so     Mostly     Somewhat     Not at all

What is going well?

What do we need to do differently?

What do we need to be able to improve our performance?

You do not need to sign this sheet, but please check the appropriate space.

Parent     Teacher/Principal     Business     Community     Staff



## Effective Meetings

If meetings are not time well-spent, it is unlikely that any substantive work will be done. The chair's role in maximizing the effectiveness of meetings is crucial.

- Start and end meetings on time.
- Keep to the agenda and the timelines. If new business items are raised that cannot be fully discussed due to time constraints, record them and carry them forward as agenda items at a future meeting.
- Maintain order and keep the focus on the school council's priorities.
- Ensure that minutes of each meeting are kept.
- Encourage everyone to participate. Do not let one or two people dominate discussions.
- Try to remain neutral and provide alternative ways to solve problems.
- Encourage decision making through consensus.
- At the end of each meeting, summarize and review actions and decisions.
- Remind members of time, date, and location of next meeting and any new items of business to be included in that meeting's agenda.
- Occasionally ask members to assess the effectiveness of a meeting. Use the information to improve future school council meetings. A sample meeting evaluation form is provided.

### **A meeting has been effective when participants feel:**

- The meeting had a purpose.
- They have a sense of accomplishment.
- They contributed to the discussion.
- They are a valued part of the group.
- Creative ideas, alternatives, or solutions were generated.
- They were able to share differing points of view.
- They are committed to the decisions made and actions taken.
- They are willing to work together again.



## Meeting Evaluation Form

Date: \_\_\_\_\_

Please take time to complete this survey. Be honest in your responses. This is your opportunity to improve future meetings.

### Evaluation Scale

1- Not at all                      2                                      3                                      4                                      5- Very much so

(Circle one)

- 1. Was the purpose of this meeting clear to you?                                      1 2 3 4 5
- 2. Did the atmosphere allow for free discussion?                                      1 2 3 4 5
- 3. Was there enough time for discussion?                                      1 2 3 4 5
- 4. Are you clear on what, if any, decision(s) was reached?                                      1 2 3 4 5
- 5. Are you clear on the next steps being taken?                                      1 2 3 4 5
- 6. Are you clear about who is responsible for taking the next steps?                                      1 2 3 4 5
- 7. Do you think your time was well-spent?                                      1 2 3 4 5
- 8. Any comments for the Chair on how the meeting was conducted?

9. Do you have suggestions for improving future meetings?

You do not need to sign this sheet, but please check the appropriate space.

\_\_\_\_Parent    \_\_\_\_Teacher/Principal    \_\_\_\_Business    \_\_\_\_Community    \_\_\_\_Staff



## School Council Compliance Checklist

To be submitted with the Annual Report of the school council to the Local Board of Education.

### **Bylaws (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (h))**

Bylaws in accordance with the 2007 school council law have been adopted. Yes \_\_\_ No \_\_\_

### **Membership (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (d))**

At least 2 Teacher members \_\_\_ Yes \_\_\_ No Terms End \_\_\_\_\_

At least 2 Parent members \_\_\_ Yes \_\_\_ No Terms End \_\_\_\_\_

2 Business members\* \_\_\_ Yes \_\_\_ No Terms End \_\_\_\_\_

Other members as specified within bylaws \_\_\_ Yes \_\_\_ No \_\_\_ None added to bylaws.

Parents are majority members \_\_\_ Yes \_\_\_ No

**\*For terms beginning after July 1, 2007, these 2 business persons must also be parents.**

### **Elections (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (d))**

Elections were held on \_\_\_\_\_ for \_\_\_\_\_  
DATE NUMBER AND POSITION

\_\_\_\_\_ for \_\_\_\_\_

### **Officers (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86(j))**

Chairperson, vice chairperson, and secretary were elected on \_\_\_\_\_ for a term of \_\_\_\_\_.

### **Meetings (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (f))**

Number of meetings held: \_\_\_ (At least four meetings per year are required.)

### **Training (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86 (b))**

All school council members have attended training on the organizational, legal, and procedural issues regarding school councils: \_\_\_ Yes \_\_\_ No

Additional annual training was offered on \_\_\_\_\_ at \_\_\_\_\_ by

\_\_\_\_\_. \_\_\_\_\_ school council members attended.

\_\_\_ No additional annual training was offered.

### **Improvement Plan (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86(r)(4))**

The school council received, reviewed, and approved the school improvement plan on \_\_\_\_\_.

\_\_\_ The school council has not approved the school improvement plan; it was received on \_\_\_\_\_.

\_\_\_ The school council has not received the school improvement plan.

### **Financial Data and Class Size Information (O.C.G.A. § 20-2-86(p))**



The school council received and reviewed school site budget and expenditure information on \_\_\_\_\_.

\_\_\_\_ The school council has not received school site budget and expenditure information.

The school council received and reviewed class sizes by grade on \_\_\_\_\_.

\_\_\_\_ The school council has not received class size information.

**Confirmation**

We confirm the above information is correct.

Chairperson: \_\_\_\_\_  
SIGNATURE DATE

Vice Chairperson: \_\_\_\_\_  
SIGNATURE DATE

Secretary: \_\_\_\_\_  
SIGNATURE DATE